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No.37 – REV. R. R. RODGERS.

“A bold and even daring originality of thought excited the interest  and riveted the attention of the more cultured and speculative listeners and if you could not always agree with the speaker you could at least respect his manifest ability, his powerful individuality and his perfect freedom from cant and common-place.”  Thus pleasantly was the Weekly Mercury” visitor impressed with the pulpit powers of perhaps the most idiosyncratic of all our local ministers the Rev. R. R Rodgers.  A juster appreciation of one of the rev. gentleman’s characteristic lectures could hardly be put into the same number of words.  Mr Rodgers is nothing if not unconventional.  He appeals not to the mere feeling of his congregation, but makes great demands on their intellect and imagination.  “How his essay would shock the theological Mrs Grundys” exclaimed the Mercury visitor.  “How his direct contradiction of stock platitudes would astonish smug religionists who boast that they know the ‘plan’.  How the ruck of ‘church goers and psalm singers’ would sit and stare with open mouth and glaring eye in dumb and deep amaze, in silent stupefaction!  That is if they could understand.”  But Mr Rodgers’ mission is not greatly concerned with the “ruck of church goers and psalm singers”.  His following is drawn from the educated and refined classes and more particularly from “those who find the ancient credenda with the old forms of worship and church government insufficient for their aspirations.”  The higher culture is not unknown at the “New Jerusalem” Church as the society founded by Emanuel Swedenborg is sometimes called.
Mr Rodgers was born at Wilne, a little hamlet in Derbyshire and was baptised and in course of time confirmed in the Church of England.  By the time he had arrived at maturity however his convictions were utterly at variance with the doctrines of the Anglican Church “so illogical, shrouded in mystery and incomprehensible” did they appear to him.  He accordingly left the religious community of his forebears and sallied forth in search of a commonsense religion.  First he tried the Wesleyans and became a member of that influential body.  But the change did not bring with it the feeling of security which his soul demanded and he passed over to the Baptists.  Here again he was disappointed.  His new creed afforded him no consolation nor could he accept in its purely orthodox reading and interpretation, much that is contained in Holy Writ. He became what is now called a Theist and Agnostic and taught only those parts of the Bible which commended themselves to what he considered enlightened reason.  Still he had not reached the goal of his desires.  Wandering one day through the Church cemetery at Nottingham he came across a gravestone upon which was inscribed a quotation from Swedenborg relative to the growth and education of children in heaven. The novelty of the epitaph led him to hunt up some of the writings of Swedenborg and - eureka! - all of his theological difficulties melted away like snow beneath the genial rays of the sun.  He became an earnest student of the great mystic and joined the New Church at Derby.  Subsequently he was adopted as a theological student by the general conference of the Church and spent nearly three years in study in London.  In 1866 he accepted the pastorate of the Summer Lane Society, Birmingham, of which the Church in Wretham Road is the outcome.
In politics a Liberal and keen on social reform, Mr Rodgers yet avoids rather than seeks publicity.  His tastes are essentially literary.  He has lectured at most of the suburban institutes – in some cases for many successive years – and during several winters he lectured on Sunday evenings for the Sunday Lecture Society on two occasions in the Town Hall, after conducting service in his own church.  “Theologically he belongs to what is called the broad school of thought and while he bases his teaching on the doctrines of Swedenborg, he prides himself that he does not blindly follow the doctrines of any one without testing them by enlightened reason and the testimony of the word of God.  He claims in all things the right of private judgement and adopts the opinion of no one merely on his claim to authority.”  Many of his lectures have been published in pamphlet and book form and widely circulated.  Of these the more popular deal with the relations between religion and science.  Mr Rodgers shows that these are by no means irreconcilables; that each has its work to do and that the object of each is truth.  “As a divine revelation” he says “the Word of God is intended to be interpreted spiritually.  Our doctrine is that from Genesis to Revelation, yes even in its history, it is written figuratively and that its essential truth is spiritual and contained within the letter, like a precious jewel within its casket.”  Amid the storms of controversy that rage around the Bible the Swedenborgians find a safe foothold.  “In the midst of all this literal criticism of the Divine Word, the New Church doctrine stands untouched, un-assailed and un-assailable, for the sufficient reason that it holds that it is to be spiritually and not literally interpreted and with the Lord Jesus our confession still is “Thy word is truth.”  The New Church has never held the untenable belief that the sacred scriptures are literally infallible.  We have always seen that in the letter there are appearances of truth, such as the sun standing still and the Divine anger.  We have also held from the outset that the mosaic account of creation was not a statement of scientific truth, that the Deluge had no basis in historic fact and that the Tower of Babel was not a material structure.  We are also quite ready to admit that taken literally there are many contradictions in the letter of the Bible;  that the authorship and the various books as previously understood, cannot be defended; that dates are wrong; and that the morals inculcated cannot always be taught in their literal acceptation.”  The Bible in short, must be understood “as a revelation of spiritual truth, designed to make men wise into salvation.”  * His latest book, “New Views of Heaven” is written in that broad-minded spirit which characterises the whole of the reverend gentleman’s contributions to religious literature.
* The Doctrine of the Sacred Scriptures: a Lecture
The highest post which the New Church can confer upon one of its ministers is the presidency of the General Conference and to this in 1886 Mr Rodgers was elected.
The commencement of Mr Rodgers’ ministry has been well described as marking an epoch in the history of the Summer Lane Society.  He soon made up his mind that there were three cardinal defects about the building wherein his congregation assembled, it was incommodious, exceedingly ugly and inconveniently situated.  Ere long a policy of removal was decided upon and in 1875 plans were approved for the erection of the Church and Schools in Wretham Road, which are we doubt not, familiar to the majority of our readers.  Mrs Henry Wilkinson laid the foundation stone of the New Church on June 16th, 1875; on Nov. 19th, 1876, service was held in Summer Lane for the last time and on Nov. 22nd of that year Wretham Road New Church was formerly opened.  A more beautiful building is not to be found in a wide circuit of Handsworth.  It has a handsome stone front with tower and spire and is built of hard red stone, with Bath stone dressings in the decorated Gothic style.  It will accommodate 600 persons and was erected at a cost of upwards of £6,000 of which £3,000 was immediately subscribed by the congregation.  From time to time memorial windows and other valuable gifts have been presented by the members of the congregation.  One, an east window about 15ft by 20ft., depicts the transfiguration of our Lord; a window of similar proportions at east end contains the following subjects:-  “The Lord blessing little children” “John the Baptist exhorting to repentance” “Christ at the door” “Mary’s choice” with the emblems of the four Evangelists, the lilies of the field, the bread of life and the victor’s crown and palms in separate quatrefoils.  All the subjects are inscribed with suitable texts and mottoes.  Four of the eight windows in the aisles contains either figures or floriated subjects and the eighteen clerestory windows are of stained glass and were all executed by Messrs. Camm Brothers of Smethwick.  The pulpit and font, beautiful in design, are the work of Mr John Roddis.  Some years ago a member of the congregation presented to the church an extensive reredos in statutory marble.  It represents the Last Supper after Leonardo da Vinci, in high relief and is flanked on each side by several large statues, all by Mr Roddis.  Several large frescoes, illustrating scriptural subjects, adorn the walls and altogether the effect is very fine.
To quote once more from the “Pulpit and Pew” article, which appeared some years ago in the Mercury “With the richness and elegance – almost gorgeousness of the decorations – you are reminded of a high-class Roman Catholic Church.  There are “the storied windows richly dight, casting a dim religious light” and looking towards the chancel you see a carved reredos of the Lord’s Supper, with large statues on each side, which at first sight appear to be Jesus Christ and the Virgin Mary.  The pulpit is elaborately carved showing in several tableaux of figures executed in Caen stone the different manifestations of the Word.  There is Moses with the tablets of stone, Jesus on the Mount of Olives and John of Revelation in Patmos.
The music is always superlatively good.  In Mr Reynolds the church possesses a first-rate organist, the organ tone is singularly beautiful and the choir is simply unsurpassable.  “In the magnificent harmony of this church one may easily forget all the anger and heart-burnings – the jarring strife’s that disturb the religious world – the bitter sectarian controversies which, whilst they often broaden the breach of Christian differences, even sometimes sever the bonds of personal friendship and mutual good will.  The New Church Society has ever been a musical one and nowhere is religious harmony more conspicuous than at Wretham Road.
Mr Rodgers believes in the importance of education and the necessity of goodness of life and these principles he is never weary of enforcing.  He reads the lessons and liturgy with great distinctness and precision; there is no haste, no slovenly sliding over well-worn familiar words; every word is enunciated with loving care and exactitude and the somewhat singing character of his enunciation reminds one of stage elocution.  His voice is clear and penetrating and he makes it perfectly audible in all parts of the building without any apparent effort.  The visitor instinctively credits the speaker with all the virtues of quiet accuracy and a great reserve of intellectual force and his preaching confirms the impression conveyed by his reading.

Mr and Mrs Rodgers were married on the 1st September 1870 – that memorable day when the Emperor of the French gave up his sword to the Commander-in-Chief of the German army after the great battle of Sedan.  During his long pastorate Mr Rodgers has married all the active workers of the church who have joined the circle of Benedicts and has baptised most of their children.  An intimacy has thus grown up between him and his church that is not very common in congregations.  His silver wedding was celebrated on Sunday, September 1st, 1895 and was made the more memorable by the many spontaneous expressions of goodwill which came from admiring friends.  Not the least valuable was a silver fruit dish from the Church Committee at Wretham Road, bearing the following inscription beautifully engraved, “Presented to the Rev. R. R. and Mrs Rodgers on the 25th anniversary of their wedding day, September 1st 1895, by the Committee of  Wretham Road New Church; W. Best, John Bragg, W. Buncher, A J Curtis, F Haseler, J Haseler, G H Johnstone, T C Lowe, C N Milner, John Osborne, C T Powell and J Wainwright. 
--------------
We have much pleasure in drawing the attention of our readers to the boot and shoe establishment of Mr Walter Ellis at 26 Great Hampton Street, a business formerly carried on by the late Mr J Winkley.  It is pleasing to know that the great reputation which Mr Winkley enjoyed for the wearing qualities, style and splendid value of his boots and shoes has been more than maintained by Mr Ellis, whose constantly growing trade is the best testimony to the manner in which he meets the requirements of his customers.  In strongly recommending our readers to give Mr Ellis a trial we do so with the utmost confidence, knowing full well that anything purchased at this establishment will most assuredly give the fullest satisfaction in every particular.

